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HUGHES J

Defendant Denick TodClI Lee was charged by grand jury indictment

with the first degree murder of Geralyn Ban DeSoto a violation of LSA

R S 14 30 The state amended the indictment to charge defendant with

second degree murder a violation of LSA R S 14 30 1 The defendant pled

not guilty After a trial by jllry defendant was found guilty as charged

Defendant made an oral motionl for a new trial and an appeal Subsequently

he filed a written motion for a new trial an amended motion for a new trial

and a notice of intent to appeal After a hearing the trial comi denied the

motion for a new trial Defendant then made an oral motion for mistrial that

was also denied After the appropliate delays the trial court sentenced

defendant to the mandatory tenll of life imprisonment at hard labor without

benefit of parole probation or suspension of sentence Defendant now

appeals raising eight assignments of enor

FACTS

Danen DeSoto left his Addis trailer home around 7 00 a m on

January 14 2002 and drove to work Geralyn DeSoto Darren s wife and the

victim in the instant matter contacted an employment company about a

position listed on the company s website Geralyn was a student at

Louisiana State University and was planning to attend graduate school in the

fall of 2002 She wanted to work and save money to pay her future tuition

Between 9 00 and 10 00 a m someone from the agency contacted Geralyn

and scheduled a job interview for 2 30 p m that day

Geralyn drove to LSU to pay the tuition for a class she was taking

during the spring semester While there she met and talked with another

student Around 11 00 a m she left to return home At 11 41 a m Geralyn

sent an e mail to one of her professors At 11 50 a m a telephone call was
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placed from the telephone in IalTen and Geralyn s trailer to a phone located

at the Exxon refinelY in BatoN Rouge The call lasted less than a minute

That afternoon Geralyn failed to appear for her job interview The

employment agency called Geralyn s home but there was no answer

DalTen left his job aroupd 6 15 p m He was concelned because he

had called his wife several tim s during the day with no answer He alTived

home around 7 00 p m and fo nd the trailer door slightly open At first he

did not believe his wife was ljIbme but when he looked down the hall he

discovered her lying on her side in a pool of blood DalTen touched his

wife s body and found that it was cold He also saw that her throat had been

cut He ran to the home of neighbor who called the police Geralyn

DeSoto was pronounced dead t the scene

NON UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT

In assignment of error number one defendant argues that in light of

recent jurisprudence LSA C Cr P art 782 A providing for jury verdicts of

10 to 2 in cases in which punishment is necessarily confinement at hard

labor violates the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States

Constitution Thus the defendant contends that the 11 to 1 jmy verdict was

unconstitutional

The state citing Louisiana jurisprudence contends that this issue is

well settled and that the Louisiana Supreme Court has held that a non

unanimous jmy verdict does not violate the Constitution

The punishment for second degree murder is confinement for life at

hard labor See LSA R S l4 30l B Louisiana Constitution Aliicle I 9

l7 A and LSA C CrP mi 782 A provide that in cases where punishment

is necessarily at hard labor the case shall be tried by a jury composed of

twelve jurors ten of whom must concur to render a verdict Under both
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state and federal jurispludenp e a criminal conviction by a less than a

unanimous jury does not violat a defendant s right to trial by jury specified

by the Sixth Amendment and rP ade applicable to the states by the Fourteenth

Amendment See Apodaca t1 Oregon 406 U S 404 92 S Ct 1628 32

L Ed 2d 184 1972 State v Belgard 410 So 2d 720 726 La 1982 State

v Shanks 97 1885 pp 15 lq La App 1 Cir 6 29 98 715 So 2d 157

164 65

The defendant s re1ianct1 pn Ring v Arizona 536 U S 584 122 S Ct

2428 153 LEd 2d 556 2002 jApprendi v New Jersey 530 U S 466 120

S Ct 2348 147 LEd 2d 435 l2000 and Jones v United States 526 U S

227 119 S Ct 1215 143 LEdl2d 311 1999 is misplaced These Supreme

COUli decisions do not addres s the issue of the constitutionality of a non

unanimous jury verdict but I iather address the issue of whether the

assessment of facts in determining an increased penalty of a crime beyond

the prescribed statutOlY maximum is within the province of the jUlY or the

sentencing judge These decisions stand for the proposition that any fact

other than a prior conviction that increases the penalty for a crime beyond

the prescribed statutOlY maximum must be submitted to a jUlY and proved

beyond a reasonable doubt See Apprendi 530 U S at 490 120 S Ct at

2362 63 Nothing in these decisions suggests that a jury s verdict must be

unanimous Accordingly LSA Const art I 9 17 A and LSA C Cr P mi

782 A are not unconstitutional and do not violate the defendant s Sixth

Amendment right to a trial by jury

This assignment of error lacks merit
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MOTION TO SUPPRESS DNA EVIDENCE
i

In assignment of enor npmber two defendant contends that his DNA

sample was illegally obtainedllwithout a search wanant and that the trial

comi ened in denying his motiqn to suppress the DNA evidence

Defendant s DNA was optained by a subpoena duces tecum requested

by the Louisiana Attorney General s Office Defendant s DNA profile was

matched to the DNA found 0111 the victim in this case and also on D A a

victim who survived an assaultll

The Motion For Issuance Of Subpoena Duces Tecum was presented

to Judge George H Ware J11 of the 20th Judicial District The motion

explained that the Attorney General s Office was involved in an

investigation of the disappearance of Randi Meb1uer and the homicide of

Connie Warner both residents of Zachary and that a DNA specimen of the

defendant was necessary to complete this investigation The motion

indicated that the Depmiment Iof Justice Attorney General s Office had

been assisting the Zachary Police Depmiment since April 27 1999 in the

investigation in the same Zachary subdivision of the disappearance of Ms

Meb1uer from her Zachary residence on or about April 18 1998 and the

homicide of Ms Warner in August of 1992 The motion further stated that

the evidence at the Meb1uer residence indicated that she was attacked

severely beaten and abducted from her residence and that the incident

occurred during a four hour penod between 10 30 p m on April 18 and 2 30

a m on April 19 1998 The Zachmy police knew the defendant had been

arrested as a Peeping Tom pursuant to LSA R S 14 284 in the same

Zachary subdivision and in St Francisville Louisiana

The motion fmiher stated that on April 20 1998 Zachary police

officers went to defendant s residence and with his consent conducted a
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cursory search of his residenc efore being asked by the defendant to leave

and since that time defenqant remained a viable suspect in the

disappearance of Randi Mebruer and a possible suspect in the deaths of

five females in Baton Rouge nd Lafayette who had been linked by DNA

profiling to a serial killer

The motion further indicated that investigators from the Attorney

General s Office interviewed defendant and his girlfriend Cassandra Green

who both indicated separatelylthat on April 18 about 10 30 p m they were

at a bar in St Francisville Wh n they got into an argument Ms Green left

and went to her home The defendant drove to a bar in Alsen Louisiana

He then left and drove to Ms IGreen s home in Jackson where he arrived

about 1 00 a m on April 19 i His route to Ms Green s home took him

directly by the entrance to the Zachary subdivision Defendant talked to Ms

Green a few minutes and then drove to his home in St Francisville

The motion alleged that the Alsen lounge was open for business on

April l8 April 19 It detailed defendant s specific atTests and convictions

for attempted unauthorized entry of an inhabited dwelling simple burglary

Peeping Tom trespassing stalking and aggravated battery and noted that

some of the anests were in Zachary The motion further alleged that

defendant was not incarcerated on the dates of Randi Mebluer s

disappearance and the murder of Connie Warner or of the murders of

Charlotte Pace Gina Green Pam Kinamore Trineisha Colomb and Canie

Yoder

Finally the motion indicated that a confidential source CS told

investigators that defendant had come to his home in Jackson Louisiana

around midnight a night or two after Randi Mebruer s disappearance The

CS accompanied the defendant to his residence In his vehicle defendant
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had a long barreled revolver After ten to fifteen minutes at the defendant s

residence defendant drove the CS back to his home Defendant told the CS

that he was being harassed qy Zachary police about a missing woman

The next day the CS heard a ews report about a missing Zachmy woman

The motion did not give any lother specific information as to the timing of

defendant s statement

An order was signed by Judge Ware on May 5 2003 authorizing the

issuance of a subpoena duce 1 tecum and directing defendant to produce a

A a As e

obtained Subsequently afte 1 defendants DNA was tested and compared

lab reports were issued indicating a high probability that the DNA found on

the victim Geralyn DeSoto anq on D A who survived an attack was that of

the defendant

At the Motion to Suppress hearing held on May 6 2004 the only

witness called by the state was Danny Mixon an investigator with the

Attorney General s Office Mixon testified that he was assigned in April of

1999 to help the Zachmy police investigate the Warner and Mebruer cases in

which defendant was the main suspect Connie Warner was killed in 1992

and Randi Mebruer whose body has never been found disappeared in 1998

The two victims lived in the same Zachmy subdivision Mr Mixon fmiher

testified that defendant had been anested on two counts of Peeping Tom

in the same subdivision and for Peeping Tom and stalking in St

Francisville

Mr Mixon testified that a search wanant was not sought because it

was believed the subpoena duces tecum was sufficient to obtain the DNA

sample He noted that he had previously used a subpoena duces tecum for

handwriting samples phone records and fingerplints Mixon and Zachary
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Police Officer Ray Day appro ched Judge Ware to have the subpoena duces

tecum issued Mixon noted that Judge Ware suggested a show cause

hearing might be necessary I During Mixon s meeting with the judge the

Attorney General s Office wa contacted and the use of the subpoena duces

tecum to obtain the DNA sample was advocated Judge Ware then signed an

order authorizing the issuance i fthe subpoena

Mixon testified that the subpoena was prepared in conjunction with

the Warner and Mebmer cases He noted that defendant had been caught on

more than one occasion walking prowling and peeping in windows in the

Oak Shadows subdivision in which both Ms Warner and Ms Mebluer had

lived The investigation indicated that Ms Mebluer was attacked and

abducted between 10 30 p m Ion Saturday August 18 1998 and 2 30 a m

on August 19 1998 During that time frame defendant admitted to driving

a route that would have taken him past Ms Mebmer s Zachary subdivision

however Mixon acknowledged that this route was the shortest route for

defendant to follow to reach his destination As to the fact that defendant

was not in custody on the dates of the Warner and Mebluer attacks Mixon

further acknowledged that thousands of other people were not in jail on

those dates Mixon also testified as to the information received from the CS

According to Mixon the CS stated that he had gone with defendant to

defendant s home a night or two after Randi Mebluer s disappearance that

the defendant went into the back of the house but did not turn on the lights

When he returned to the vehicle the CS saw the defendant put a revolver in

the console of his truck The defendant told the CS that the Zachary police
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were harassing him about a m sing white woman from Zachmy

At the conclusion of t e hearing the judge denied the motion to

suppress The judge found hat the subpoena was essentially a search

wanant and that the motion or the subpoena provided sufficient facts to

establish probable cause Defendant subsequently filed an application for

supervisOlY writs which was enied State v Lee 2004 1129 La App 1

Cir 716 04 unpublished writ denied 2004 1935 La 7 30 04 877

So 2d 997

In this appeal defenda11t contends that the swabbing for his DNA

sample was a warrantless search and seizure and did not fall within one of

the exceptions for the wana11t requirement He fmiher argues that the

subpoena duces tecum was ani I improper vehicle to obtain his DNA and the

motion for the subpoena did not provide the necessmy probable cause for the

seIzure

As to the use of the subpoena to obtain the sample defendant cites

jurispIudence as suppOli for his argument that his Fifth Amendment rights

were violated The state responds that the subpoena duces tecum was a valid

means to obtain defendant s DNA sample and like an affidavit suppOliing a

search wanant the motion was reviewed by a judge before the subpoena

was issued 2
The state argues a neutral and detached reviewing judge made

a determination that probable cause existed to obtain the sample

1
Mixon s testimony at trial differs slightly from the information contained in the Motion for

Issuance ofSubpoena Duces Tecum I The motion represents that the CS saw the revolver when

he first entered the defendant s vehicle and does not desclibe as white the missing woman from

Zachary

2
The state also notes that in order to confirm the DNA results linking defendant to the murder of

Geralyn DeSoto after defendant was in custody the state obtained another sample by filing a

motion to compel a DNA sample
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Louisiana Code of Cq inal Procedure miicle 66 provides for the

issuance of a subpoena and su poena duces tecum on the basis of reasonable

grounds 3

A Upon written rilotion of the attorney general or district

attOlney setting fOlih ieasonable grounds therefor the comi

may order the clerk to ssue subpoenas directed to the persons
named in the motion qrdeling them to appear at a time and

place designated in thC11 order for questioning by the attorney
general or district attOln y respectively concelning any offense
under investigation by I him The comi may also order the
issuance of a subpoena I duces tecum Service of a subpoena or

subpoena duces tecumll issued pursuant to this Aliicle upon
motion of the attorn y general may be made by any
commissioned investiga or from the attOlney general s office
or in confonnity with AIiicle 734 of this Code

B The contumacious failure or refusal of the person

subpoenaed to appear isllmnishable as a contempt of comi

C The attOlney general or district attorney respectively
may deternline who shall be present during the examination and

may order all persons C1xcluded except counsel for the person

subpoenaed

Defendant cites Mancusi v DeForte 392 U S 364 88 S Ct 2120 20

LEd 2d 1154 1968 in which the reviewing court determined that a

subpoena duces tecum issued by the district attOlney s office under a state

statute did not justify a warrantless search and seizure and confened no light

to seize the property refened to in the subpoena In Mancusi a union

official instituted a habeas I corpus proceeding arguing that evidence

1
Several Louisiana statutes provide authority for state intmsion based upon reasonable

grounds LSA R S 17 416 3 provides for the search of students persons desks lockers and
other areas based upon reasonable grounds to suspect that the search will reveal evidence that the

student has violated the law a schoolmle or a school board policy LSA R S 28 53 provides
that a police officer may take a person into protective custody and transport him to a treatment

facility for a medical evaluation when as a result of his personal observation the officer has

reasonable grounds to believe the person is a proper subject for involuntary admission to a

treatment facility because the person is acting in a mam1er dangerous to himself or dangerous to

others is gravely disabled and is in need of immediate hospitalization to protect such a person or

others from physical hann LSA R S 32 661 A 1 provides for the implied consent to chemical

testing for blood alcohol content of persons operating motor vehicles in this state LSA R S

32 661 A 2 a provides that the test shall be administered at the direction ofa law enforcement

officer having reasonable grounds to believe the person has been driving while under the

influence of alcohol or a controlled dangerous substance LSA Ch Code mi 621 allows a police
officer to take a child into custody without a court order if he has reasonable grounds to believe

that the chDd s surroundings are such as to endanger his welfare m1d immediate removal appears
to be necessary for his protection
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received against him in the st te prosecution had been seized in violation of
i
I

his Fomih Amendment rights The Supreme Comi found that the search of
I

the union office without a wm ant but with a subpoena duces tecum was a

prohibited unreasonable sear h The subpoena did not qualify as a valid

search wanant under the Foutth Amendment because it was issued by the

District Attonley himself and thus omitted the indispensable condition that

the inferences from the facts i lof the complaint be drawn by a neutral and

detached magistrate instead ofllaw enforcement officers Mancusi 392 U S

at 371 88 S Ct at 2125

Mancusi is distinguish ble from the instant case Although both

cases involved the initiation of a subpoena duces tecum by the prosecuting

entity in this case a judge rev ewed the facts presented before the subpoena

was ordered The instant situation is unlike Mancusi where no review by a

judge was involved

Defendant further contends that the information from the CS in the

motion for the subpoena should not be considered in determining probable

cause because the motion failed to provide a basis for the reliability of the

informant He fuliher argues that if the information from the CS were

excised the motion fails to provide probable cause

The CS identified at thel Motion to Suppress hearing as Leroy Shorts

recalled seeing defendant around midnight a night or two after Mebruer s

disappearance During that meeting defendant had a handgun in his huck

and told ShOlis that Zachary police were harassing him about a missing

woman from Zachmy The next night Shorts saw a television news repOli

on Ms Mebruer s disappearance and assumed that the defendant was talking

about her
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However the motion o ly indicates that the conversation occurred a

night or two after the abdu tion and does not give a specific date The

testimony at the hearing does ot clarify the exact date or the exact time that

Zachary officers visited the qefendant at his home on April 20 or when

ShOlis had the conversation with the defendant A night or two could

have put the conversation wit Shorts after the Zachary officers talked with

the defendant Thus the CS information was helpful but not essential in

establishing grounds for the iss ance of the subpoena

We note however that I he motion submitted to Judge Ware was not

under oath or affiln1ation as equired by the Fourth Amendment and we

respectfully disagree with theI trial court that the state s use of an LSA

C CrP art 66 subpoena duc s tecum to acquire a DNA sample from the

defendant was the equivalent of obtaining a search warrant

Search warrants are authOlized under the Fourth Amendment of the

U S Constitution only upon a showing of probable cause suppOlied by

Oath or affirmation and pmiicularly describing the place to be searched and

the persons or things to be seized Louisiana Code of Criminal Procedure

miicle 162 thus provides A search warrant may issue only upon probable

cause established to the satisfaction of the judge by the affidavit of a

credible person reciting facts establishing the cause for issuance of the

warrant In contrast an LSA C CrP art 66 subpoena is issued upon the

motion of the attOlney or district attOlney no SWOln statement is
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required
4 The information p lesented to obtain the court order in this case

was not supported by oath or affirmation Thus the requirements for a

warrant were not met

Because the validity oflthe use of an LSA C CrP mi 66 subpoena

duces tecum to acquire a mNA sample appears to be a case of first

impression in Louisiana we adopt the rationale set fOlih in In re Shabazz

200 F Supp2d 578 581 D iS C 2002 Although Shabazz involved a

subpoena duces tecum issued by a grand jUlY we find the reasoning

employed by that court in finding the subpoena a valid means of obtaining a

saliva sample equally applicaqle to an LSA C CrP mi 66 subpoena duces

tecum authorized by a trial cOUli judge In both instances an intervening

authority either a grand jUlY oi a trial judge passes on the reasonableness of

the individualized suspicion that the subject of the subpoena has been

involved in the alleged crime thereby reducing the possibility of

prosecutorial abuse

The obtaining of physical evidence from a person involves a potential

FOUlih Amendment violation at two different levels the seizure of the

person necessary to bring him into contact with government agents and the

subsequent search for and seizure of the evidence It is well established that

a physical intIusion penetrating beneath the skin infringes an expectation

of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable In re

Shabazz 200 F Supp 2d at 581 citing Skinner v Railway Labor

4
Although not applicable to the instant proceeding we note Article 163 1 was added to the

Louisiana Code ofCriminal Procedure by 2005 La Acts No 38 9 1 and provides
A A judge may issue a search wan ant authorizing the search ofa person for

bodily samples to obtain deoxyribonucleic acid DNA or other bodily samples
B The warrant may be executed any place the person is found and shall be

directed to any peace officer who shall obtain and distribute the bodily samples
as directed in the warrant

C A warrant authorizing the search of a person for bodily samples remains in

effect for one hundred eighty days after its issuance
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I

i

Executives Ass n 489 U S i602 616 109 S Ct 1402 1413 103 LEd 2d

639 1989 drug and alcoholltesting of railroad employees Schmerber v

California 384 U S 757 767J 86 S Ct 1826 16 LEd 2d 908 1966 blood

test for alcohol and Winstonl Lee 470 U S 753 760 61 105 S Ct 1611

84 L Ed 2d 662 1985 order to compel surgical operation to remove a

bullet However what a per on knowingly exposes to the public even in

his own home or office is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection

accordingly subpoenas compielling voice samples handwriting samples

fingerprints and hair samples are not searches and therefore do not

implicate the Fourth Amendm nt Id citing U S v Dionisio 410 U S 1 8

93 S Ct 764 35 LEd 2d 67 1973 U S v Mara 410 U S 19 21 22 93

S Ct 774 35 LEd 2d 99 19713 Davis v Mississippi 394 U S 721 727

89 S Ct 1394 22 LEd 2d 676 1969 and In re Grand Jury Proceedings

Mills 686 1928 F 2d 135 139 3d Cir cert denied 459 U S 1020

103 S Ct 386 746 L Ed 2d517 1982 In contrast acquiring scrapings

below a defendant s fingernails breathalyzer tests and urine samples are

searches within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment as held in Cupp

v Murphy 412 U S 291 295 93 S Ct 2000 36 LEd 2d 900 1973 and

Skinner 489 U S at 613 14 109 S Ct 1402 See In re Shabazz 200

F Supp 2d at 582

Neveliheless as pointed out by the Shabazz comi the Fomih

Amendment does not proscribe all searches and seizures but only those that

are unreasonable Thus under certain circumstances searches and seizures

may be pemlissible under the Fomih Amendment based on suspicions that

although reasonable do notTise to the level of probable cause In re

Shabazz 200 F Supp 2d at 583 citing New Jersey v T L O 469 U S 325

341 105 S Ct 733 83 LEd 2d 720 1985 and Terry v Ohio 392 U S 1
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88 S Ct 1868 20 L Ed2d 8 9 1968 The Shabazz court reasoned that

probable cause need not be al prerequisite for the issuance of a grand jury

subpoena ordering a DNA sali a test because the velY purpose of requesting

the infOlTIlation is to ascertain whether probable cause exists

The Shabazz comi conpluded that the privacy concerns that led the

Supreme Court to require probable cause in other cases are not as

pronounced with a saliva swabi because it is not as intrusive as a blood test or

a surgical bullet removal propedure Although the saliva swab involves a

slight invasion of a person s bodily integrity it is not a surgical procedure

and therefore does not fall ithin Schmerber s threshold requirement of

probable cause so no showihg of probable cause is needed before the

issuance of a subpoena duc s tecum requiring a saliva sample In re

Shabazz 200 F Supp2d at 584

The purpose of the saliva sample is plainly to advance the law

enforcement objective of detennining whether a suspect was involved in

illegal physical contact with a victim Therefore although a showing of

probable cause is not necessmy a subpoena duces tecum requiring a saliva

swab must be based on reasonable individualized suspicion that a suspect

was engaged in criminal wrongdoing In re Shabazz 200 F Supp 2d at

584 85

Another consideration i is whether the means and procedures

employed in taking the saliva sample were in themselves reasonable under

the Fomih Amendment To detelwine the reasonableness of procedures to

obtain physical evidence the extent to which the procedure may threaten

the safety or health of the individual and the extent of intrusion upon the

individual s dignitmy interests in personal privacy and bodily integrity

should be wJeighed against the community s interest in fairly and
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accurately determining guilt oi innocence A balancing of these factors in

the Shabazz case led the cOUl to conclude that the procedure used to obtain

the saliva swab was plainly II reasonable under the Fourth Amendment

because there was no evidenc that the saliva swab presented any safety or

health risk to the suspect aind secondly because saliva sampling is a

relatively minor intrusion intq a suspect s interest in personal pIivacy and

bodily integrity the sample islqbtained by simply swabbing the inside of the

mouth and does not involvel any risk of pain or embalTassment The

Shabazz court further reasOl ed that on the public interest side of the

equation the government has I a clear interest in obtaining DNA as highly

probative evidence of identifying or eliminating a suspect FUliher a saliva

swab is much less intrusive than the blood sample upheld by the Supreme

COUli in Schmerber And it is easily distinguishable from the surgical

procedure at issue in Winston which was potentially dangerous and was of

unceliain evidentiary value Thus the means and procedures used to obtain

the saliva sample in Shabazz were found to be reasonable under the

FOUlih Amendment In re Shabazz 200 F Supp 2d at 585
5

In the instant case as previously stated the subpoena duces tecum

was sought in conjunction with the investigation of the murders of two

Zachaty women In the motion prepared by the AttOluey General s Office

seeking a subpoena duces tecum for the production of a DNA specimen

from the defendant the facts and circumstances of the kidnapping and or

murders of Randi Mebruer and Connie Watuer were set fOlih The motion

5
Other decisions are in accord with Shabazz upholding use of a subpoena to obtain DNA

evidence collected via a saliva sample andor buccal swab following a reasonableness review

See U S v Garcia Ortiz F Supp 2d D P R 12 23 05 2005 WL 3533322 People v

Watson 825 N E 2d 257 Ill 12105 cert denied U S 126 S Ct 1141 163 LEd 2d

1003 2006 U S v Swanson 155F Supp 2d 992 C D Ill 711 01 In re Nontestimonial

Identification Order Directed to RB 171 Vt 227 762 A2d 1239 Vt 2000 In re Grand

Jury Proceedings Involving Vickers 38 F Supp2d 159 D N H 12 4 98
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further stated that the defend nt had previously been observed and later

subsequently anested by Zacpary Police Depmiment officers as a Peeping

Tom in the Oak Shadows Subdivision where Mebruer and Warner resided

Immediately following the disappearance of Ms Mebluer the motion states

that the defendant and his th n girlfriend were interviewed and that the

interview revealed that the I defendant had driven past Ms Mebluer s

subdivision during the time t1hat she was alleged to have been murdered

The motion further stated that defendant was considered by law enforcement

as a suspect in that murder as I well as in connection with the Baton Rouge

area serial killer murders

The defendant s crimin l histOlY was also detailed in the motion and

included a 1988 conviction for attempted unauthorized entry of an

inhabited dwelling in St FranCisville a 1993 conviction of simple burglary

of an inhabited dwelling in Zachmy a 1996 plea of nolo contendere to

charges of Peeping Tom and resisting anest in Lake Charles a 1998

conviction on two counts of Peeping Tom and resisting anest in Zachary a

1999 conviction of stalking and a 2000 conviction of aggravated flight in St

Francisville following an altercation in a bar with his girlfriend and law

enforcement while on probation from a prior conviction It was also stated

in the motion that defendant was not incarcerated at the time that any of the

following crimes were committed the 1992 murder of COllilie Warner the

1998 disappearance of Randi Mebluer nor the 2001 murder of Gina Wilson

Green the 2002 murder of Charlotte Munay Pace the 2002 murder of Pam

Kinamore the 2002 murder of Trineisha Dene Colomb or the 2003 murder

of CmTie Yoder whose murders were linked to a serial killer by DNA

profiling Fmiher the motion presented facts provided by a confidential

informant who indicated that he had accompanied the defendant to his St
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I

Francisville house within on or two days of the disappearance of Ms

Mebluer that defendant had qomplained that Zachary police officers were

harassing him over a missing woman and that defendant had armed

himself with a revolver

Based on the facts statep in the motion for issuance of the subpoena

duces tecum we find th t there was reasonable and sufficiently

individualized suspicion that the defendant may have been involved in the

Zachary crimes involving Ms Wamer and Ms Mebluer to justify the

issuance of the subpoena duce tecum Whether or not the facts presented in

the motion could also hav I sustained a finding of probable cause is

irrelevant the very purpose oflthe subpoena is to collect additional evidence

sufficient to suppOli probable qause or to rule the defendant out as a suspect

We further find that the lmeans and procedures employed in obtaining

the sample were not in thems lves unreasonable After obtaining the comi

order from the 20th Judicial District Court judge investigator Danny Mixon

along with several other law enforcement officers went to the defendant s

residence and presented him with the subpoena According to Mr Mixon

the defendant did not object to the DNA testing Mixon indicated that he

accompanied defendant into his living room where defendant sat down

Mixon then swabbed both the left and right sides of defendant s mouth The

defendant was not taken into custody at that time

Based on the facts and circumstances presented in this case we find

no merit in defendant s challenge to the issuance and execution of the
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i 6subpoena duces tecum ordel ng DNA sampling Accordingly the trial
I
I

comi did not en in denying thg Motion to Suppress the DNA evidence
I

OTHER CRIMES EVIDENCE

In assignment of enol umber three defendant contends that the trial
i

comi erred in permitting eviqence of other crimes wrongs or acts to be
I

introduced at trial

The state filed a notic of intent to use evidence of other CrImes
i

I
I

wrongs and acts pursuant to IHSA C E art 404 B and State v Prieur 277

I

So 2d 126 La 1973 to showii motive oppOliunity intent preparation plan

and system knowledge and bsence of mistake or accident at trial The

I

written notice specifically re ers to evidence of the killing of Trineisha
I
I

Colomb on November 21 2P02 and the attempted rape and attempted
I

murder of D A on July 9 20p2 The notice further refers to defendant s

convictions for attempted uti uthorized ently of an inhabited dwelling

simple burglmy of an inhab ted dwelling and stalking and arrests for

aggravated burglary and Peeping Tom

Evidence concelning the crimes against Ms Colomb and D A was

presented at a Prieur hearing and at trial Lt Joseph Arthur Boyd an

investigator in the St Martin marish Sheriffs Office testified at the hearing

about the attempted rape andi attempted murder of D A While cooking

lunch D A heard a knock at the front door of her mobile home She opened

the door and saw a man later lidentified as the defendant standing outside

He indicated that he was looking for a family named Montgomery and asked

6
Another factor we consider is that grand jury proceedings are conducted in secrecy not only to

facilitate investigations but to protecthmocent persons Code of Criminal Procedure aliic1e 66

seems to imply production pursuant to a subpoena duces tecum at a time and place designated in

the order for the person involved to appear Presumably the subject of the subpoena would thus

have an oppOliunity to obtain counsel and attempt to quash or contest the subpoena or to seek a

protective order However the order prepared in the hlstant case provided for the DNA sample to

be provided instanter FOliunately it lalso provided for the results to be sealed
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i

if she knew them D A repliC that she did not and the defendant asked to

use her telephone and telepho e book D A took the items to the defendant
i

I
I

I

on her porch and closed thel door She returned to the porch after the
I

defendant used the telephone I I He asked if her husband knew the family
I

When D A replied that her lihsband was not at home and that he did not
I

I
know the family defendant p oduced a knife forced D A into her home

I
and demanded that she lead h m to the bedroom D A responded that they

I

could stay in the living room 1 Defendant began choking the woman He
i

I

demanded that she remove hdlunderwear and that she lie on the floor D A
I
I

complied and the defendant Nvho had removed his ShOlis and underwear

attempted to have intercourselJ but was unable to obtain an erection The

defendant then stmied beatingID A on her head and face He also tried to

strangle her with a telephone ord When the defendant heard D A s son

drive up he fled through the back door stomping on the woman s stomach

D A s son saw the defendant vehicle and assumed it belonged to someone

visiting his mother Once insiqle the son discovered his mother was injured

and bleeding the son ran Olhtside and attempted to follow defendant s

vehicle with his own vehicle 1 but the assailant was able to flee and the

woman s son returned home to help his mother

Detective Boyd testified I that he and Lafayette Parish Sheriffs Office

Detective Sonny Stutes began omparing information from D A s case and

that of Trineisha Dene Colomb a serial killer victim DNA found on Ms

Colomb s body matched that hf the perpetrator in the selial killer cases in

Baton Rouge Detective Boyd stated that he was aware Ms Colomb was the

first African American female1victim linked to the serial killer and that he

knew that D A was an African American female Detective Boyd asked the

crime lab to retest the dress th t D A was wearing at the time of her assault
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I
to look specifically for conta t DNA D A had reported that her attacker

I

had been sweating profusely 4 patiial profile of the DNA from perspiration
I

I

on the dress indicated that the nknown serial killer could not be excluded as
i

I
the source of the DNA found or D A s dress

With D A s assistance a computerized composite drawing of D As

I
I

i

attacker was completed etective Boyd testified that the drawing
I

I
I

resembled the defendant Sub equently Boyd had a meeting with the Serial
i
I

Killer Task Force and a deciWon was made to release the drawing to the

public As a result law enfo cement officers received tips that led to the
I
I

7
eventual anest of the defendal1i for the murder of Geralyn DeSoto

I
Carolyn Booker qualifi d as an expeli in the field of forensic DNA

analysis also testified at the Prieur hearing She performed DNA testing at

the Acadiana Crime Lab She testified D A s dress was negative for semen

but had stains containing DNA Booker indicated that the defendant an

African American could not qe excluded as a contributor of the DNA but

that 99 of the African American population would be excluded At trial

Ms Booker acknowledged that D As husband also could not be excluded

as a minor contributor of the DNA found on her dress

Ms Booker also conducted analysis of DNA from a vaginal swab of

Ms Colomb The profile of the spenn cells from the swab matched

defendant s known profile She concluded with reasonable scientific

celiainty that defendant was the source of the male DNA and the sperm

taken from Ms Colomb s body She testified that the probability of

selecting a random individualjwith the same profile would be one in thirty

7
The chronology appears as follows the c1omposite drawing when released to the public led to interest in

defendant He was then identified through DNA as the common perpetrator of the five known serial

murders D A identified defendant in a photographic line up and he was anested for the attack on her

Subsequent DNA analysis linked defendantlto Geralyn DeSoto

21



trillion

Gina Pineda was qual red as an expert in molecular biology and

forensic DNA analysis and te ified at the Prieur hearing and at trial She
I

was employed by Reliagene L b a private lab that performed Y STR testing
I

I
on fingernail clippings and a Vaginal swab from Ms DeSoto the victim in

I

the instant matter and a vag nal swab from Ms Colomb This type of

I
testing could not be done at th state crime lab

I

Ms Pineda explained tHat there are two types of DNA The Y STR
I

test is conducted for DNA tha is only on the male Y chromosome Thus

the test attempts to find malel DNA and was performed on the fingernail
1

scrapmgs from Ms DeSoto lfhis was done because the sample taken from

Ms DeSoto s fingernails was Ipf poor quality and was overwhelmed with

her female DNA The DNA extracted from Ms DeSoto s fingelnail

scrapings indicated a male colntributor and revealed that defendant was a

potential contributor of the DNA while excluding 99 8 of the African

American population as potential donors This figure was determined by

using a random data base of 1 05 individuals of African American descent

Ms Pineda acknowledged onl cross examination that when the Louisiana

State Police Crime Lab tested the DNA found on Ms DeSoto a male

chromosome was not detected I She further testified that there was more than

one male donor of the DNA fpund under Ms DeSoto s fingernails and that

Ms DeSoto s husband could not be excluded as a minor donor Ms Pineda

admitted that patelnal relatives of the defendant could not be excluded as

potential donors of the DNA sdmple taken from Ms DeSoto She explained

that the Y STRs are inherited straight from the father so a man will have the

same Y STR profile as his father brother and any individuals related

through the patemalline
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I
I
I
I

I
I

The state argued that i order to counter the possibility that a male
I

relative of the defendant actu lly perpetrated the crime the Y STR profile
I

I

derived from the DNA sampl ltaken from Ms DeSoto was compared to and
I

I
I

found to be consistent with J STR testing performed on a DNA sample
I

i
I

from the Colomb case wher defendant was established with reasonable
I

scientific certainty as the pe etrator and the probability of selecting a

I
I

random individual with the saine profile was stated as one in thiliy trillion
I

The match of male DNA profiles from the Colomb and DeSoto cases thus
I

excluded the possibility of iale relatives of the defendant as possible
I

I

perpetrators of the DeSoto crime
I
I

In addition to evidence rom the D A and Colomb cases other acts

that the state sought to introdljIce were incidents that OCCUlTed on February

19 1997 July 31 1997 and ugust 19 1999 Zachmy Police Depmiment

Sergeant Roderick Ennis testiwed at the Prieur hearing and at trial that on

Februmy 19 1997 at about 9 00 p m he was patrolling the Oak Shadows

subdivision when he saw the defendant Ennis who lived in the subdivision

knew that the defendant did not live there He stopped him and asked for his

identification Defendant stated he had left it in his vehicle which had

broken down Defendant inciicated that he was going to his girlfriend s

house to use the telephone bu did not know the girlfriend s name or where

she lived Upon frisking the I defendant Ennis found a knife in his front

pocket He noted that the defendant was wearing brown western type boots

with a thick heel and had a pair of work gloves When Ennis dropped the

defendant off at his vehicle Ennis noticed that it was a new truck that started

immediately when defendant t rned on the ignition Sergeant Ennis testified

that he did not arrest the defendant that night and that defendant did not

commit a crime but becaus there had been a rash of Peeping Tom
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I

incidents in the area and becalse both Connie Warner and Randi Mebruer
I
I

had lived in the subdivision h prepared a report
I
i

I

Zachary Police Depart nt Lt David McDavid testified at the hearing

that on July 31 1997 he inveS igated two Peeping Tom complaints in the
I
I

i

Oak Shadows subdivision in fachary The defendant was anested in the

I
area for these incidents and ILt McDavid later learned that the defendant

I
I
I

I

had been seen in the same mea in February of that year Defendant was

I
subsequently convicted of the 1Peeping Tom offenses

I

On August 19 1999 liSt Francisville Police Department Officer
i

I

Archie Lee took statements II from three women who lived in the St

Francisville Square Apmtmerhs Each of the women stated that the

defendant had been stalking Ithem in the apartment complex and each

identified defendant s picture ip a photographic lineup One of the women

Collette Walker Dwyer indi1cated that the defendant had entered her

apmtment on two occasions
I

iwithout her consent The defendant was

anested later that day and subsequently pled guilty to Peeping Tom

offenses At trial Ms Dwyer gave a more detailed description of her

encounters with the defendant 1 During one of the incidents the defendant

walked up as she was unlockipg her apmtment door and walked with her

into her apartment He got hiniself something to drink sat down proceeded

to question Ms Dwyer and repeatedly asked her to go out with him He also

stated that he could rape her ifl1e wanted He only left when she walked out

of the apmtment and he follow d her

After the Prieur heari g the trial court ruled it would allow the

following other acts evidence to be introduced at trial the murder of

Colomb the attempted rape and attempted murder ofD A the Febluary 19

1997 stop of defendant while in Warner and Mebluer s subdivision
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I

i

I

including the discovery of a ife on defendant s person the July 31 1997
I

mTest in the same subdivisioJkor two acts of Peeping Tom and the 1999
i
i
I

incidents when defendant apPt oached a St Francisville Square Apmiments

resident and a few days later was seen again at the same apartment complex
I

and was convicted of Peepi1 g Tom offenses The trial judge concluded
i

i
that each of the crimes or acts had been proven by clear and convincing

i

evidence and could be used at I rial to show knowledge plan and preparation
I

and that the probative value I of the evidence outweighed the prejudicial

effect

I

Defendant sought revie of the trial comi s ruling and this comi

I

denied the writ The supreme omi denied defendants writ seeking review
I
i

State v Lee 2004 1205 L App 1 Cir 716 04 unpublished writ

I
denied 2004 1936 La 7 30 04 877 So 2d 997

8

Aliicle 404 B l ofthe ode of Evidence provides

Except as provided in 4liicle 412 evidence of other crimes

wrongs or acts is not dmissible to prove the character of a

person in order to show hat he acted in conformity therewith It

may however be admissible for other purposes such as proof
of motive opportunity intent preparation plan knowledge
identity absence of mistake or accident provided that upon

request by the accused he prosecution in a criminal case shall

provide reasonable notice in advance of trial of the nature of

any such evidence it iptends to introduce at trial for such

purposes or when it r lates to conduct that constitutes an

integral pmi of the act qr transaction that is the subject of the

present proceeding

Generally evidence ofbther crimes committed by the defendant is

inadmissible due to the substantial risk of grave prejudice to the defendant

To admit other crimes evid nce the state must establish that there is an

independent and relevant reason for doing so i e to show motive

oppOliunity intent preparatiqn plan knowledge identity absence of

8 In the writ action by tIus court Judge cDonald concuned in pmi and dissented in part
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mistake or accident or that it relates to conduct that constitutes an integral

pmi of the act The Louisi na Supreme Comi has also held admissible
I

evidence of other crimes ex ibiting almost identical modus operandi or
I
I

I

system committed in close pl ximity in time and place Evidence of other
I

II
crimes however is not admissible simply to prove the bad character of the

I

il

accused Fmihermore the J her crimes evidence must tend to prove a
I
I

il
I

material fact genuinely at iss e and the probative value of the extraneous

crimes evidence must outwe h its prejudicial effect State v Millien

2002 1006 p 10 La App 1lCir 214 03 845 So 2d 506 513 14 citing
I

State v Tilley 99 0569 p 11 La 7 6 00 767 So 2d 6 22 celio denied

532 U S 959 121 S Ct 1488 1149 LEd 2d 375 2001

The procedure to be us d when the state intends to offer evidence of

other criminal offenses was fOlTmerly controlled by State v Prieur Prior to

its repeal by 1995 La Acts Nq 1300 S 2 LSA C E art 1103 provided that

the notice requirements and Ilclear and convincing evidence standard of

Prieur and its progeny were npt overruled by the Code of Evidence Prieur

dealt with LSA R S 15 445 nd LSA R S 15 446 now repealed statutes

which addressed the admissibility of other crimes evidence Under Prieur

the state was required to give a defendant notice both that evidence of other

crimes would be offered against him and upon which exception to the

general exclusionmy nlle the tate intended to rely Additionally the state

had to prove by clear and conyincing evidence that the defendant committed

the other crimes Millien 2002 1006 at p 10 845 So 2d at 514

1994 La Acts 3d Ex Sess No 51 added LSA C E art 1104 and

amended LSA C E art 404 B Aliicle 1104 provides that the burden of

proof in pretrial Prieur heariligs shall be identical to the burden of proof

required by Federal Rules qf Evidence Article IV Rule 404 The
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amendment to LSA CE art 04B inserted the language provided that

I
upon request by the accused t e prosecution in a criminal case shall provide

reasonable notice in advance f trial of the nature of any such evidence it
i
i

intends to introduce at trial fori uch purposes into the miicle

The burden of proof reiguired by Federal Rules of Evidence Aliicle

IV Rule 404 is satisfied upo la showing of sufficient evidence to suppOli a

finding by the jury that the deWendant committed the other crime wrong or

act The Louisiana Supreme qpmi has yet to address the issue of the burden

of proof required for the adm1rSion of other Climes evidence in light of the

repeal of LSA C E mi 11 O and the addition of LSA C E mi 1104
i
I

However numerous Louisian appellate comis including this comi have

held that the burden of proQf is now less than clear and convincing

Millien 2002 1006 at p 11 845 So 2d at 514

If the prosecution is using other crimes evidence to show identity

the law requires that the facts iof the cases be so peculiarly distinctive that

one must logically say they are the work of the same person but if the state

wishes to use such evidence o show defendant s intent the standard is

lower and the state must only show that the crimes are similar State v

Langley 95 2029 p 6 La 1PP 4 Cir 9 4 96 680 So 2d 717 721 writ

denied 96 2357 La 27 97 688 So 2d 498 Where testimony shows that

factual circumstances of priejr acts and the crime charged are virtually

identical evidence of other crimes is conoborative of the victim s testimony

and establishes a system or plcm State v Lewis 95 0769 p 5 La App 4

Cir 110 97 687 So 2d 1056 1059 writ denied 97 0328 La 6 30 97

696 So2d 1004 Where identity is genuinely at issue system evidence has

relevance independent of a defendant s criminal propensity and should be
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I
admitted if it meets the othJ tests of admissibility State v Ester 436

So 2d 543 546 La 1983

In State v Bell the Lqpisiana Supreme COUli found that while there

were some similarities betweJh the two crimes the prior crime was not so

II
distinctively similar to the c arged crime especially in time place and

I

I

manner of commission that dhe may reasonably infer that the same person

I
was the perpetrator Bell VVi s charged with armed robbery and the state

I
I

sought to introduce evidence f another robbery The supreme cOUli found

that there were many differej es between the two robberies including the
I

I

race of the perpetrators and tJ type of weapons used and that the identity
II

exception to inadmissibility m st be limited to cases in which the crimes are
I

I
I

genuinely distinctive The c mes involved robberies of bars at night and

OCCUlTed within two months 1 of one another in Ascension Parish The

perpetrators in both cases Ilwere described as wearing dark hooded

sweatshilis or Stmier jacketsl During both robberies the perpetrators

disengaged the telephone at the scene The only evidence directly

connecting Bell to the crime VVias the testimony of two co perpetrators who

were charged with pmiicipation in the robbery but had not yet been tried

The supreme cOUli found thatllthe sufficiency of the evidence presented by

the co perpetrators easily wquld be upheld if the prosecutor had not

introduced inadmissible evidel1ce for the purpose of influencing the jury s

determination of defendant s gUilt and then emphasized in argument the role

of that evidence in the guilt determination The court found that it could not

conclude with any confidence that the jury s guilty verdict was surely

unattributable to the enoneOlis admission of evidence of a prior an11ed

robbery committed by defend nt especially since the prosecutor exploited

the inadmissible evidence in rebuttal closing argument The supreme court
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I
found that this cOU1iconclude cOlTectly that the other crimes evidence was

erroneously admitted A h rmless error analysis was conducted the

conviction was reversed and t e case was remanded for a new trial State v

i

I
Bell 99 3278 pp 4 8 La 12 ig 00 776 So2d 418 421 23

The balancing test of ILSA C E mi 403 is conducted if the other

crimes evidence is admissible Aliicle 403 provides
I

I

Although relevant evidence may be excluded if its

probative value is subs antially outweighed by the danger of
unfair prejudice confusibn of the issues or misleading the jury

I

or by considerations of due delay or waste of time
i

I
In the instant case def ndant argues that the only real issue at trial

was the identity of the victimr s assailant and that the facts of the instant

i

offense and the other crimes te not so distinctively similar that they meet

the necessary standard to be ntroduced at trial As to the other crimes

involving Colomb and D A qefendant argues that the use of the evidence

about the DNA test results in tliose cases allowed the state to introduce those

results during the DeSoto tria and that this evidence highly impacted the

jury as prospective jurors had I indicated in voir dire that DNA evidence was

infallible Defendant fuliher apgues that the facts presented as to each crime

do not show that there were distinctive similarities rather they were

commonplace Additionally defendant contends that the other crimes

evidence was not used for limited purposes as required but to cast him as

the serial killer suspected in numerous Baton Rouge murders He

9
The supreme COUlt concluded that e oneous admission of other climes evidence is subject to

hannless enor analysis under the standard set forth in Chapman v California 386 us 18 87

S Ct 824 17 LEd 2d 705 1967 The Chapman standard was later refined in Sullivan v

Louisiana 508 us 275 113 S Ct 2018 124 L Ed2d 182 1993 The supreme COUlt stated that

the inquiry was not whether in a trial that occUlTed without the error a guilty verdict would

surely have been rendered but whether ithe guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely
unattributable to the error The court found that when the tlial court enoneously allows

inadmissible evidence the prosecutor has a very heavy burden to demonstrate in the appellate
COUlt that the enor was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt State v Bell 99 3278 at pp 5 6

776 So2d at 422 23
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contends that the state did nir use this evidence for the stated purpose to

show identity of the perpetrat t through system or modus operandi
I
I

The state argues that tlme Colomb and D A cases are similar to the
I
I

I
I

DeSoto case because the defendant s DNA was found on each of the
I

victims This is a bootstrap fgument DNA evidence is not an act and
i

cannot by itself constitute an lact similar to the crime charged that would

I
make evidence of that act a missible in the trial of the crime charged

Absent the requisite similarity between the crime charged and the other

acts evidence of the other cts is not admissible at the trial of the crime
I
I

charged DNA evidence aloiie cannot bootstrap the other act into being

similar DNA is a type of ef dence not a crime wrong or act

Analysis of the three cri es at issue shows that while the DeSoto case

and the D A case are distincti ely similar the Colomb case is not While all

three victims were in a violent bloody struggle and beaten in the head and

face scenarios unfortunately cpmmon to many murder and rape cases here

the similarities end Ms Colpmb was raped Mrs DeSoto and D A were

not A knife was used in the DeSoto and D A crimes but not in the Colomb

case Cordless phones were rriissing in DeSoto and D A but not Colomb

DeSoto and D A were attacked in their homes at midday Colomb s body

was found far from her house There was evidence of a stomp in the

DeSoto and D A cases but npt in Colomb Telephone calls were placed

from the homes of DeSoto andlD A but not from that of Colomb

We find that the facts of the instant case when compared to the facts

of the case ofD A are so pec liarly distinctive that the evidence of the D A

case including DNA evidence was properly admitted at trial We cannot

reach the same conclusion with respect to the evidence in the Colomb case

The cases are not distinctively similar Nor are we persuaded by the state s
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I
I

argument that the Colomb evi ence was admissible to counter the possibility
I
I

that one of the defendant s lyale relatives perpetrated the DeSoto crime

This end could have been adcomplished by testing and comparing male

DNA from a known sample o lthe defendant rather than comparing a sample
i

of the defendant taken from t e body of Ms Colomb FUlihermore D A

identified defendant at trial as her attacker

Likewise the varIous Peeping Tom stalking and

burglary unauthorized entIy d mes wrongs and acts should not have been

admitted While these acts aije perhaps similar to each other and tend to

paint the defendant as a sexmd predator they are not similar to the DeSoto

crIme This evidence was prejudicial character evidence meant to be

excluded by Prieur and Article 404 B 1 of the Code of Evidence

The erroneous admission of other crimes wrongs or acts evidence is

a trial error subject to harmless error analysis on appeal State v Johnson

94 1379 pp 16 17 La 1127 95 664 So2d 94 101 The test for

detennining whether an error i is hannless is whether the verdict actually

rendered in this case was surely unatttributable to the elTor Sullivan v

Louisiana 508 U S 275 279 113 S Ct 2078 2081 124 LEd 2d

1821993 Johnson 94 1379 at p 14 664 So 2d at 100

In the case at hand we find that the other acts evidence erroneously

admitted was harmless and that the defendant s conviction was surely

unattributable to the error The DNA evidence in the instant case showed a

high probability that the defendant was the perpetrator excluding as possible

DNA contributors 99 8 oftl1e African American population although not

excluding defendant s paternal relatives or the victim s husband as a minor

contributor Furthel1110re theiDNA evidence from the D A case excluded

99 9 of the African American population but the defendant and D A s
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husband were not excluded lHJowever D A identified the defendant as her
I
i

attacker Other physical eviq nce also linked the defendant to the instant

crime including his proximit a boot print the knife wounds and the

telephone call from the victi n s phone to defendant s former place of

employment

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

In assignment of error dumber four defendant argues that without the

other crimes evidence the Ijemainder of the evidence introduced was

insufficient to suppOli the cqnviction He contends that the remaining

evidence DNA analysis indic1ating a male member of his family was the

perpetrator a boot print at the scene of the murder possibly made by

defendant s boot that he trav led a route on the day of the murder that

brought him within 200 yards of the victim s home and that defendant

carried a knife consistent witbj the type of knife used to kill the victim is

insufficient to prove he killed the victim

The state argues that the evidence patiicularly the DNA evidence

found under the victim s fing lnails places defendant at the murder scene

and indicates he was the killer

The standard of review for the sufficiency of the evidence to uphold a

conviction is whether viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to

the prosecution any rational trier of fact could conclude that the state proved

the essential elements of the i crime and the defendant s identity as the

perpetrator of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt Jackson v Virginia

443 U S 307 319 99 S Ct 2781 2789 61 LEd 2d 560 1979 See also

LSA C CrP ati 821 State y Wright 98 0601 p 2 La App 1 Cir

219 99 730 So2d 485 486 writ denied 99 0802 La 10 29 99 748

So 2d 1157 writ denied 2000 0895 La 1117 00 773 So 2d 732
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When analyzing circull1 tantial evidence LSA R S 15 438 provides
I

A ssuming evelY fact to b 1 proved that the evidence tends to prove in

order to convict it must exclu e every reasonable hypothesis of innocence

This statutory test is not I purely separate one from the Jackson

constitutional sufficiency stanqard Ultimately all evidence both direct and

circumstantial mustbe suffic ent under Jackson to satisfy a rational juror

that the defendant is guilty beypnd a reasonable doubt State v Shanks 97

1855 pp 3 4 La App 1 Cir IP 29 98 715 So 2d 157 159 The reviewing

comi is required to evaluate he circumstantial evidence in the light most

favorable to the prosecution and detennine if any alteluative hypothesis is

sufficiently reasonable that a iational juror could not have found proof of

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt State v Fisher 628 So 2d 1136 1141 La

App 1 Cir 1993 writs denied 94 0226 and 94 0321 La 5 20 94 637

So 2d 474 and 476 As the trier of fact the jury was free to accept or reject

in whole or in part the testimony of any witness State v Johnson 98

1407 p 6 La App 1 Cir 4 199 734 So 2d 800 805 writ denied 99

1386 La 101 99 748 So 2d 439

There were no eyewitnesses to directly connect defendant with the

murder and the evidence presented at trial was circumstantial The evidence

showed that a boot print at the scene of the murder matched a print made

from one of defendant s boots and that defendant carried on his person a

knife consistent with the type of knife that could have made the wounds the

victim received The state also presented evidence showing it was possible

that on the day of the murder the defendant on his way to get a paycheck

from his former employer traveled a route within 200 yards of the victim s

home and that a call placed from the victim s telephone within the estimated

time of the murder was madel to a number assigned to an area in a plant
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I
I

where defendant had previ011sly worked Other evidence included the

results of analysis of DNA ob ained from the victim s fingernails that could

not exclude defendant and h s patenlal relatives as a source but could

exclude 99 8 of the Africa American population Additional evidence

showed that DNA test result obtained from the crimes involving D A

indicated the defendant could ot be excluded as the perpetrator in the D A

case Additionally D A proyided a police sketch of her attacker to law

enforcement and it resembl d the defendant She identified him III a

photographic lineup and she icientified him as her attacker at trial

Therefore after a thorc ugh review of the record and the evidence

contained therein we are convinced that a rational trier of fact could have

concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the evidence was sufficient to

exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence to negate any reasonable

probability of misidentification and to prove that defendant was the

perpetrator

This assignment of enor lacks merit

CHANGE OF VENUE

In assignment of error number five defendant argues that the trial

court ened in denying his motion to change venue which was based upon

the failure to obtain a fair and impartial jury due to the effect of pretrial

publicity on the venire Specifically defendant argues that misinfOlTIlation

about the crime and extensive media coverage saturated the community and

inflamed feelings against him He contends that every one of the

prospective jurors questioned including the seated jurors was familiar with

the facts of the case and his reputation as the suspected serial killer

The state responds that the exposure to media coverage is not the

criteria for finding the venire was tainted Rather it is the impact of the
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exposure that is reviewed to d termine if the community was prejudiced and

an impmiial and fair trial coul not be held in the place of original venue

The record shows the trial court deferred its ruling on the motion for

change of venue until after I the venire had been questioned about its

knowledge of the case Several times during voir dire defense counsel

reiterated the motion which the trial judge denied Near the end of voir dire

defense counsel reurged his motion to change venue The judge denied the

motion and stated in pertinent part

T o expect people noti to know anything about it the case

would be absurd I don t think there s a square inch of ground
in this state where people have not heard of this case I don t

believe it I just don t b lieve it
The ultimate issue for detenllination and what Mr Lee is

entitled to is a right to a trial by fair and impartial jurors that s

what he s entitled to that s what the law grants him

A defendant is guaranteed an impmiial jmy and a fair trial LSA

Const mi I 9 16 State v Brown 496 So 2d 261 263 La 1986 State v

Bell 315 So 2d 307 309 La 1975 To accomplish this end the law

provides for a change of venue when a defendant establishes he will be

unable to obtain an impartial jmy or a fair trial at the place of original venue

State v Bell 315 So 2d at 309

Louisiana Code of Criminal Procedure miic1e 622 provides III

peliinent part

A change of venue shall be granted when the applicant
proves that by reason ofprejudice existing in the public mind or

because of undue influence or that for any other reason a fair

and impmiial trial cannot be obtained in the parish where the

prosecution is pending

In deciding whether to grant a change of venue the trial comi shall consider

whether the prejudice the influence or the other reasons are such that they

will affect the answers of jurors on the voir dire examination or the

testimony of witnesses at the trial State v Hoffman 98 3118 p 6 La
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4 1100 768 So 2d 542 5 cert denied 531 U S 946 121 S Ct 345 148

L Ed2d 277 2000

In unusual circumstances prejudice against the defendant may be

presumed Unfairness of a collstitutional magnitude will be presumed in the

presence of a trial atmosphere that is utterly conupted by press coverage or

that is entirely lacking in the s9lemnity and sobriety to which a defendant is

entitled in a system that subscribes to any notion of fairness and rejects the

verdict of the mob See State v David 425 So 2d 1241 1246 La 1983

Othelwise the defendant bears the burden of showing actual prejudice

State v Vaccaro 411 So 2d 415 423 24 La 1982

Whether a defendant has made the requisite showing of actual

prejudice is a question addressed to the trial cOUli s sound discretion which

will not be disturbed on appeal absent an affirmative showing of enor and

abuse of discretion Several factors are peliinent in detelTIlining whether

actual prejudice exists rendering a change in venue necessary 1 the

nature of pretrial publicity and the degree to which it has circulated in the

community 2 the connection of government officials with the release of

the publicity 3 the length of time between the publicity and the trial 4

the severity and notoriety of the offense 5 the area from which the jury is

drawn 6 other events OCCUlTing in the community which either affect or

reflect the attitude of the community or individual jurors toward the

defendant and 7 any factors likely to affect the candor and veracity of the

prospective jurors on voir dire State v Manning 2003 1982 pp 7 9 La

1019 04 885 So 2d 1044 1061 62 celi denied 544 U S 967 125 S Ct

1745 161 LEd 2d 612 2005

In the present case a review of these factors demonstrates the trial

comi did not abuse its discretion when it denied the motion As to the factor
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of pretrial publicity and the d gree it circulated in the community defendant

submitted in the form of allproffer approximately six local newspaper

articles published a few days qefore and during voir dire As acknowledged

by the trial judge in one of his rulings on the motion to change venue the

voir dire revealed that almost all the prospective jurors examined responded

they had some exposure to the instant case or the serial killer cases

As noted earlier defendant is not entitled to a jury entirely ignorant of

his case and cannot prevail nilerely by showing a general level of public

awareness about the crime In several cases high exposure to publicity

before the trial did not result in reversible error for the failure to change

venue In State v Frank 99 0553 pp 16 17 La 117 01 803 So 2d 1

16 17 110 out of 113 venire members 97 had been exposed to some

publicity surrounding the case and 89 of the prospective jurors indicated

they had been exposed to information about the case on more than one

occasion or from multiple sources See also Hoffman 98 3118 at p 9 768

So 2d at 555 72 out of 90 prospective jurors 80 had awareness of the

case before trial State v Connolly 96 1680 p 5 La 7 197 700 So 2d

810 815 although 120 out of139 potential jurors 86 33 possessed some

knowledge about the crime most had only a vague recollection of the

surrounding facts

As to the connection of government officials with the release of the

publicity some of the newspaper articles during voir dire included

comments made by the trial judge likening the use of juror challenges to a

game of chess Most of the pretrial articles do not include comments by

government officials although one article includes a discussion of the

evidence by the prosecutors In the newspaper on that same day are
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extensive articles about the vIFtim and about the defendant his upbringing

his past criminal history and facts about the other alleged serial killer cases

Regarding the factor o the length of time between the publicity and

the trial the newspaper miiclesl proffered by defendant indicate that the news

coverage was extensive just p ior to the start of voir dire and was ongoing

dming the trial Althoughnotj documented by defendant other areas in the

record indicate there was extellsive publicity during the investigation of the

serial killer murders at thetime defendant was alTested for the murders and

at the time the victim in this c se was alleged to be one of the victims of the

serial killer However du ing voir dire the trial judge repeatedly

admonished the venire to avioid media coverage of the case There is

nothing in the record to indic te that any of the prospective jurors did not

abide by the trial court s admonishment Without doubt the severity and

notoriety of the offense and the other crimes to be established at trial were

significant and extensive The victim in the instant offense was alleged to

have been one of more than five victims of the same offender As noted by

the trial judge there was doubt that anyone in the state would not have heard

of the serial killer cases

The area from which the jury was drawn was in West Baton Rouge

Parish where the offense occulTed West Baton Rouge Parish is separated

by the Mississippi River from East Baton Rouge Parish where most of the

other alleged serial killer crimes were committed However both parishes

are within the coverage of the same print and electronic news media

As shown by the record of the voir dire many persons 111 the

community were affected by the numerous murders of women by the alleged

serial killer Many people were more cautious during the time the murders

were being committed Some members of the community altered their
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lifestyles and obtained guns 01 mace to protect themselves Among the

prospective jurors questioned I the majority did not make significant changes

in their lifestyle However a number of the venire indicated they became

more relaxed and less fearful after the defendant was in custody and

identified by law enforcement iofficials as the serial killer

It does not appear that there were other factors that affected the candor

and veracity of the prospective jurors on voir dire Instead as noted by the

trial judge the prospective jurors appeared to be quite truthful when

questioned Some prospectivcijurors indicated they had familiarity with the

case or had heard opinions about defendant s guilt or innocence from

sources other than the media presumably from discussions with friends or

family but almost all indicatei they were able to set aside this information

Although there may have been a sense in the community that the defendant

was the killer in the instant caSe and in the serial killer cases the record does

not indicate that this opinion prevented defendant from receiving a fair trial

Most of the prospective jurors and all of the seated jurors with an opinion

about the defendant s guilt or innocence stated they were able to put aside

this opinion and base their verdict only upon the evidence introduced at trial

Based upon our review of the factors and the record before us we find

no abuse of the trial cOUli s discretion in denying defendant s motion for

change ofvenue

CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE

In assignment of error number six the defendant argues that the trial

cOUli erred by repeatedly denying his challenges for cause

An accused ina criminal case is constitutionally entitled to a full and

complete voir dire examination and to the exercise of peremptory

challenges LSA Const mi I 9 l7 A The purpose of voir dire

39



examination is to determine p ospective jurors qualifications by testing their

competency and impartialitYI and discovering bases for the intelligent

exercise of cause and peremp ory challenges State v Robertson 97 0177

p 18 La 3 4 98 712 So 2d 8 25 celio denied 525 U S 882 119 S Ct

190 142 LEd 2d 155 1998

Louisiana Code of Ciiminal Procedure miicle 797 provides for

challenges of prospective jUrol S for cause as follows

The state or thell defendant may challenge a Juror for
cause on the ground that

1 The juror lacks a qualification required by law

2 The juror is not impartial whatever the cause of his

pmiiality An opinion or impression as to the guilt or innocence
of the defendant shall I not of itself be sufficient ground of

challenge to a juror if he declares and the cOUli is satisfied

that he can render an irripmiial verdict according to the law and
the evidence

3 The relationship whether by blood marriage
employment friendship or enmity between the juror and the
defendant the person II injured by the offense the district

attOll1ey or defense counsel is such that it is reasonable to

conclude that it would influence the juror in aniving at a

verdict

4 The juror will not accept the law as given to him by
the court or

5 The juror served on the grand jury that found the

indictment or on a petit jUlY that once tried the defendant for
the same or any other offense

A challenge for cause should be granted even when a prospective

juror declares his ability to remain impmiial if the juror s responses as a

whole reveal facts from which bias prejudice or inability to render

judgment according to law may be reasonably implied State v Martin

558 So 2d 654 658 La App 1 Cir writ denied 564 So 2d 318 La 1990

A trial judge is vested with discretion in ruling on challenges for cause and

only where it appears upon review of the voir dire examination as a whole
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that the judge s exerCIse of that discretion has been arbitrary or

unreasonable resulting in prejpdice to the accused will this comi reverse the

ruling of the trial judge See Martin 558 So 2d at 658

Defendant contends that the trial comi ened in denying the challenges

for cause as to all the seat d jurors except for Mr LeBlanc and Mr

Anderson because each juror was pmiial unable to accept the law or biased

due to adverse pretrial public ty He also contends that prospective jurors

Wendy Knapps Steven Cop and Patricia Acosta were biased None of

these three were chosen for the jury

As to defendant s gen ral allegation concelnmg the seated jurors

without any specific argumenti or facts related to anyone pmiicular juror the

state responds that it is unable to specifically refute such a baseless

allegation We agree that ciefendant s assignment of enor as to the ten

seated jurors lacks specificitYl NeveIiheless we have reviewed the entire

voir dire including that of the seated jurors and find no enor

The defendant does make specific allegations regarding three

prospective jurors who were unsuccessfully challenged for cause

Specifically as to prospective juror Wendy Knapps the state responds that

Ms Knapps assured the trial comi that she could put aside her previously

formed opinion on the issue ofguilt or innocence and apply the law as given

by the comi During voir dire Ms Knapps indicated she could be fair and

would rely on the evidence i in detennining her verdict Later during

questioning Ms Knapps indicated that she had seen television news repOlis

about the defendant Once she learned that defendant was anested she

stopped being concerned about her safety Ms Knapps further stated that

although she had talked to her co workers about the case she did not form

nor express an opinion about defendant s guilt or innocence
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There is no indication that Ms K11apps was biased or prejudiced

against defendant or that she Gould not follow the law as given to her by the

trial judge She did not indicate that she had developed an opinion she

merely had been concerned apout her safety when hearing news repOlis of

homicides in the general a ea Thus the judge s ruling denying the

challenge for cause as to Ms I apps was not an abuse of discretion

Steven Cope s answers to initial voir dire questioning indicated that

he could put aside any opinipn he may have had and follow the law as

explained by the trial judge Mr Cope fmiher indicated that he had heard

television news repOlis and re d newspaper accounts regarding defendant as

far back as one and one half years before he was called for jury duty He

recalled hearing that defendant s DNA matched that of the killer and that he

believed defendant was guiltY Although he initially commented that he

would not want to have himself on the jury if he were being tried Mr Cope

later stated he hoped he could put aside his belief about defendant Mr

Cope followed up his answerslby stating he could put aside any opinion and

had not understood the question at first The peliinent pmi of the colloquy

during voir dire is as follows

Q At some point did you form an opinion in your mind as to

whether you thought he was guilty or innocent

A MR COPE As Isaid earlier yes that he was guilty

Q And when did you form that opinion

A MR COPE Probably at the beginning of the whenever it
came down that they caught the suspected serial killer that the

DNA matched and

Q So at that point you stmied thinking he was probably guilty

A Right right

42



Q Did anything happen during those all the time he s been in jail
from whenever ou first heard about it that changed your
mind

A MR COPE Not really

Q You ve heard notping to change your opinion

A MR COPE Notiparticularly no sir

Q So you still hold hat opinion

A MR COPE I pan put it aside but yeah I still hold that

OpInIOn

Q I understand Yqu still are going to stmi with the opinion that
Mr Lee is guilty

A MR COPE Codect

Q So somehow youive got to get rid of that opinion

A MR COPE WelL I can put it aside

Q How are you goiqg to put it aside

A MR COPE Ifl I was sitting in that chair right now and

somebody was aqcusing me and I know Im innocent I would

expect them to pu it aside

Q Well let me askiyou this knowing what you know in your
mind and knowiilg that today as you sit here you have an

opinion that you think he s guilty let s switch it and you were

sitting in that chair and you were accused would you want

someone like you

A MR COPE No I wouldn t

Q Why not

A MR COPE We 1 hopefully I would have it in the back of my
mind that you think you could put everything aside and start off

clean

Q Good question hopefully

A MR COPE Hopefully

Q But you re not SUl e

A MR COPE I could put it aside so yes I would say I want me

on the as a juror
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Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

A

Q

I

Okay First you aid you didn t

MR COPE I didn t understand I understand now
I

But you ve chanJed your mind and you would want you
i
I

A

Q

A MR COPE Rig t

Q
I

What did you dol different once you heard about Mr Lee and
these murders

MR COPE Do dlifferently as in
I

I mean like I
I

I
I
I

MR COPE Not ing
I

Did you have a fi ncee or wife at the time

I
MR COPE It didn t directly involve us as in evelyday living
We didn t go out knd get a gun or mace or anything like that

You didn t

MR COPE Oh no I wasn t wonied about that
I

Did you check onl your fiancee more

MR COPE Not articularlY
I
I

Not at all

MR COPE Ithink she can handle herself

Does she carry a gun

MR COPE No I

And if she were opt at night in the Baton Rouge area

MR COPE I woiuld be worried but

You were worried then

MR COPE I w mld be wotTied yeah But as any day even

before that I didn t have my wife or a fiancee then but you

know my mothell my brother and my sister or something like
that

And when Mr Le was atTested did you feel relieved

MR COPE I could say yeah I felt a little bit more relieved
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I
After reviewing the answers as a whole it appears that Mr Cope

indicated that he was able to e an impartial juror and that the trial court did

not abuse its discretion in denying defendant s challenge for cause as to Mr

Cope

Patricia Acosta stated she would have to see the evidence and weigh

it before rendering a verdi9t She further indicated that if defendant

exercised his right not to tes ify she would not hold that decision against

him Ms Acosta admitted se ing media coverage on television and seeing

pictures of women who wer missing and alleged murder victims of the

serial killer However she di9 not hear any opinion of defendant s guilt or

innocence and she had not formed an opinion herself She reiterated that she

would not allow the mediaco erage to interfere with her decision and would

base her verdict only on the evidence presented at trial She could be fair

and put aside anything heard apout the case

The record shows that Ms Acosta consistently indicated that she

could put aside any infonnation she had received about defendant outside of

trial could follow the law in deciding the case and could be a fair and

impmiial juror The trial court s denial of the challenge for cause as to Ms

Acosta was not enor

This assignment of enorJacks merit 10

INTRODUCTION OF VIDEOTAPE OF CRIME SCENE

In assignment of enor number seven defendant contends that the trial

court ened in allowing the jmy to be shown a videotape of the crime scene

He argues the video was gruesome and unnecessary to the state s case

10
We note that duringjury selection in this case 6 panels of 14 potential jurors were examined by

the court and counsel before the l2 man and 2 altemate jury was empanelled Of those 84

persons 17 potential jurors were excused by the trial judge for vmious disqualifying reasons

Defendant asserted challenges for cause as to almost all of the remaining 67 prospective jurors
The tlial judge granted 17 of defendant s challenges for cause and 14 challenges for cause

asserted by the state
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because the jury also had still photographs of the crime scene to view The

state responds that the video ape did not unfairly prejudice the defendant

Instead the videotape depicted the crime scene as it was found cOlToborated

other evidence and illustrated I facts in the case

Even when the cause o death is not at issue the state is entitled to the

moral force of its evidence arid postmOliem photographs of murder victims

are admissible to prove corpus delicti to corroborate other evidence

establishing cause of death lc cation or placement of wounds as well as to

provide positive identification lof the victim

The issue of admissibility of a videotape is similar to the issue of the

admissibility of still photographs a videotape like a photograph may be

admissible to corroborate othei testimony in a case such as location of the

body manner of death specific intent to kill cause of death and the

number location and severity of wounds State v Davis 92 1623 pp 23

24 La 5 23 94 637 So 2d 1012 1026 cert denied 513 U S 975 115

S Ct 450 130 L Ed2d 359 1994 State v Pooler 96 1794 pp 42 43 La

App 1 Cir 5 9 97 696 So 2d 22 50 wlit denied 97 1470 La 1114 97

703 So 2d 1288 Photographs that illustrate any fact shed light upon any

fact or issue in the case or are relevant to describe the person place or thing

depicted are generally admissible provided their probative value outweighs

any prejudicial effect The fact that the photographs are gluesome does not

of itself render the photographs inadmissible Merely because the videotape

may be cumulative evidence does not render the tape inadmissible A trial

court s ruling on the admissibility of such evidence will be disturbed only if

the prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighs its probative value LSA

C E mi 403 Pooler 96 1794 at p 43 696 So2d at 51
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As in Pooler the videotape in this case depicts the scene of the crime

as the police officers found it The tape shows the dOOlway of the victim s

residence the layout of her t ailer including the kitchen living room where

she was confronted the hall laundry area leading to the bedroom and

bedroom where the victim s bpdy was found The videotape also shows the

victim s body on the floor of the bedroom and the blood spatter These

matters cOlToborate testimony and illustrate the facts in the case The

majority of the tape does not focus on the victim s body

The probative value oj this evidence outweighed any prejudicial

effect The videotape is no more gruesome than the still pictures introduced

at trial and fully depicts the trailer s layout and the blood spatter which the

still pictures were unable to do Accordingly we find that the trial COUlt

cOlTectly allowed this evidence to be admitted over the defendant s

objection

MOTION FORNEWTRIAL AND MOTION TO QUASH
INDICTMENT

In assignment of elTor number eight defendant argues that the trial

COUlt erred in denying his Motion for New Trial and or Motion to Quash

Defendant argues that he filed his motion after trial when he discovered that

neither of the two assistant district attorneys who prosecuted the case Mr

Tony Clayton and Ms Becky Chustz was competent to represent the state

Specifically defendant contends that because there was no oath of office on

file with the Secretary of State neither assistant had the authority to

prosecute the case against him or the authority to conduct the grand jUlY

proceedings Thus he should receive a new trial

The motion for new trial is based upon the supposition that injustice

has been done the defendant and unless such is shown to have been the
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case the motion shall be dcrnied no matter upon what allegations it is

grounded LSA C CrP ad 51 In order to obtain a new trial based on

newly discovered evidence t e defendant has the burden of showing l

the new evidence was discovered after trial 2 the failure to discover the

evidence at the time of trial as not caused by lack of diligence 3 the

evidence is material to the is ues at trial and 4 the evidence is of such a

nature that it probably wouldi have produced a different verdict State v

Smith 96 0961 p 7 La Appi 1 Cir 6 20 97 697 So2d 39 43

The motion alleges that ithe new evidence that the prosecutors did not

have the authority to act as as istant district attorneys was discovered after

the trial ended At the heahng on the motion there was a stipulation

between defendant and the state that the assistant district attorneys were

lawyers in good standing arid employees of the Office of the District

Attorney Witnesses who tes ified included the District Attorneys of East

Baton Rouge Parish and WestiBaton Rouge Parish the two assistant district

attOlneys Tony Clayton and Becky Chustz and an employee of the

Secretary of State

The transcript of the hearing indicates that Mr Richard Ward Jr the

District Attorney for the 18th Judicial District Court identified Mr Clayton s

written oath of office He had no independent recollection of the signing of

the document on September 16 2003 but was adamant that he did not sign

the oath on August 6 2004 the date it was faxed to the Secretmy of State s

Office He recalled that defendant s trial was ongoing on the August date

and that he had not signed any such document at that time

During Mr Ward s testimony the trial judge noted that the pmiies

stipulated that the filing of the oath with the Secretary of State took place on

August 6 2004 Mr Ward further testified that at the beginning of the
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investigation and handling o the instant criminal proceeding the assistant

district attOlneys at issue we Le employed by him and had the authority to

prosecute the case

Mr Clayton testified tHat he signed the oath of office on September

16 2003 He also recalled being administered the oath of office by Mr

Ward Deborah Turner the supervisor of the Secretary of State s

Commissions Division testified that she saw two letters from Mr Ward

addressed to Governor Mike iFoster One was dated September 16 2003

appointing Mr Clayton as an assistant district attorney and requesting a

commission and oath of office Her office received these letters on

September 17 and September 19 2003 A notation on the bottom of the

letters indicates that the comn ission oath of office identification card and

Code of Govelnmental Ethics were mailed from the Secretary of State s

office on October 7 2003

Ms Turner also verified that Ms Chustz had received documents

from the Secretmy of State th t would not have been issued unless her office

had received an oath and a request for a commission Although a search for

an oath had proved fiuitless Ms Tmner testified that after six years on file

the relevant documents might well have been transfelTed to archives

It thus seems probablei that Mr Clayton and Ms Chustz executed

oaths However even absent oaths they were clearly authorized to

prosecute the case under Aliicle 63 of the Code of Criminal Procedure
11

by

District Attorney Ward who tried the case with them

In denying the motion for new trial the trial judge questioned whether

any injustice had been done to defendant The judge also cited Thibodeaux

II A1iicle 63 provides the district attomey may employ or accept the assistance ofother counsel in

the conduct ofa criminal case
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v Comeaux 243 La 468 48 8 89 145 So2d 1 8 1962 cert denied 372

U S 914 83 S Ct 729 9 I Ed2d 721 1963 which recognized that a

public officer s failure to qualify under the law does not vitiate his acts if he

fulfills the requirements of a de facto officer Thibodeaux indicates that a

person is a de facto officer if lie exercises the duties of his office under color

of a valid appointment but fails to conform to some requirement such as

taking an oath Herein the trial judge found that there was no question that

the District Attorney appointed Mr Clayton and Ms Chustz as his

assistants

After a careful review qf the record we find no abuse of discretion in

the trial court s denial of the jdefendant s motion First defendant did not

allege in his motion or sustain his burden of showing that the newly

discovered evidence would have resulted in a different verdict Second as

argued by the state at the hearing defendant did not show any prejudice that

resulted to him by the prosecutors possible failure to have filed their oaths

of office with the Secretmy of State Last we agree with the trial comi that

it is clear that both of the assistant district attorneys were appointed to their

positions by Mr Ward and even if they did not fulfill all the requirements

such as the filing of an oath of office they would have acted ina de facto

capacity as prosecutors

This assignment of error lacks merit

CONVICTION AND SENTENCE AFFIRMED
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